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- The School Districts appeel from the superior court's
sﬁmmary jﬁdgment dismissal of their complaint alleging that
Arizona’'s school finance system violates Article 11, Section 1, of
the Arizona Coﬁstitution, which requires the Legislature te “enact
such laws as shall-provide for the establishment and maintenance
of a general and uniform public school system . . . .” We
conclude that the State established that it is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law. Therefore, we affirm.
| BACKGROUND

q2 The relevant procedural history of this litigation is as
follows. On September 20, 2061, the School Districts? filed a
three-count compleint_against the State of Arizona? alleging that
Arizona’s school_financing—system was unconstitutional. 1In Coﬁnt
1, the School Districts asserted that a constitutionally adequate
school finance system is “one in which the state provides students
with the programs that are necessary and appropriate.in order for

students to achieve the state'’s prescribed academic standards” as

' Originally, seven districts filed suit. However, Tolleson

Elementary School District and Tolleson Union High School District
were dismissed pursuant to stipulation, leaving five districts to
pursue the claims set forth in the complaint.
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The Arizona State Board of Education (Board) and the
Superintendent of Public Instruction were also named as defendants

in the complaint but were later dismissed by stipulation of the
parties. _ ' :



meaéured by the AIMS test.’ The School Districts then asserted
that the State “failed to provide the programs that are necessary
in ordér for -at-risk students to achieve the state’s prescribéd
academic standards."‘ As a result,’according to the Districts,
“the school finance system is not general and uniform as required
- by Article 11, § 1.” 1In Count é, the School Districts contended
that education. is a fundamental right wunder +the Arizona
Cohstitution énd that the above-described failure results in “at-
risk students [being] deniéd their fundamental right to the basic
edﬁcation that 1is guaranteed to them wunder .the Arizona
Constitution.” In Count 3, the School Districts alleged that the
inadequacy of the school finance system forced them 'to-di‘vert
resources from other students to at-risk students to enable them
to meet the State’s prescribéd academic standards. The Distriéts
asserted that this resulted in their havihg 1ess than the minimum
base level of funding with which to educate students without

special needs, thereby also violating Article 11, Section 1. The

’ AIMS, an acronym for the Arizona Instrument to Measure

Standards, is the test used to measure pupil achievement of the
Board-adopted academic standards as prescibed by Arizona Revised
Statutes (A.R.S.) section 15-741 (2002). Effective for the
graduating class of 2006, pupils must receive a passing score on
the reading, mathematics, and writing portions of the AIMS
assessment to receive a high school diploma. Ariz. Admin. Code R7-
2-302. ‘

! The complaint classified at-risk students as those with family
incomes below 185% of the federal poverty level who are eligible
for free or reduced-price school lunches; the percentage of
students who qualified for the lunch programs in the Districts
allegedly ranged from 27% to 91% of the student body.



School Districts asked the superior court to declare the school
finance syetem unconstitutional for failing to adequately address
the needs of at-risk students and direct the State, that is, the
Arizona Legislature, to provide programs and fundihg necessary to
permit at-risk children to acquire a basic educatioh.

q3 The State filed a motion for summary‘judgment asserting
.that addressing the academic needs of at-risk students was a
compliéated probiem that the state and federal ngernments had
been trying to solve through a Variety'of_pregfams, that such
determinations were policy decisions for the Legislature, and that
the judiciary was ill-equipped to resolve questions coneerning the
“adequacy” of 'edueation or minimum standards under the
constitution. Aecordingly, the Staterclaimed that the relief
sought by the' School Districts violated the principle of
separation of powers and was therefore nonjusticiable. The State
also contended that Arizona’s school'financihg system satisfies
the genefal and uniform clause because, unlike the capital funding
scheme declared unconstitutionai by Roosevelt Elementary School
District No. 66 Q. Bishop, 179 Ariz. 233, 877 P.2d 806 (1994)
(Roosevelt I), it allocates approximately the same amount of funds
per student for each school district. See id. at 241, 877 P.2d at
814 ("Funding mechanisms that provide sufficient funds to educate

children on substantially equal terms tend to satisfy the general



and uniform requirement. School.financing systems which themselves
create gross disparities are not general and uniform.").®

94 The School Districts filed a cross-motion for partial
summary judgment. They contended that as a matter of law.the
State’s academic fﬁnding system violated the general and uniform
clause because it is based on a statutory formula that is_
arbitfary and 1is .unrelated to the cost of providing a basic
education. The School Districts asked the superior court to order
the State to adopt standards of “adequate school operations” and
determine the cost of those operations, including programs to
recruit .and retain teachers, the proper number of studenté'per
classroom, and proper levels of administrative support, leaving it
to the Legislature “in the first instance” to determine any
methodology to identify and measure costs. ?inally, the School
Districts asked the couft to hold a trial on whether they lacked
resourcés “to provide at-risk students a meaniﬁgful opportunity to
achieve the state's academic standards.”

q5 o The superior court denied the School Districts’nwtion.for
partiai éummary judgment and granted summary judgment to the State

on the basis that the complaint raised nonjusticiable issues. The

® "Concurrently, the State moved to suspend the trial date

because programs to improve academic performance of at-risk
students (e.g., No Child Left Behind Act, Arizona LEARNS, Arizona
READS, programs for English Language Learners, Proposition 301
funding, and Early Childhood Block Grants) had been adopted but
results could not yet be evaluated.



School Districts appeal from those rulings. We have jurisdiction
pﬁrsuant to A.R.S. § 12-2101(B) (2003).
DiSCUSSION

96 On appeal, the School Districts‘claim that the superior
court erred in finding nonjusticiable ﬁheir claim that the school
finance system violates Article 11, Section ]Q by failing to
provide at-risk students with programs and funding necéssary and
appropriate to provide a meaningful opportunity to achieve the
State's prescribed academic standards. The Schddl Districté also
assert that they were entitled to partial summary judgment on
their claim that - ﬁhé school finance system is per se
unéonstitutional'because the manner in which it allocates fuhding
per student 1is arbitrary and-unrelatéd to the actual cost of
educating the student.® |

7 A motion for summary judgment should be granted when
there is no genuine dispute as tb material facts ana the moving
party is entitled to judgment as a matter of iaw. Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 56(c). As with a directed verdict, summary Ijudgment is
appropriate “if fhe facﬁs produced in support of the claim or
.defense have so little probative value, given the qﬁantum of
evidence required, that reasonable people could not agree with the

proposition advanced by the proponent of the claim or defense.”

6

The School Districts do not raise as issues on appeal their
claims in Counts 2 and 3 that education is a fundamental right in.
Arizona and that the inadequacies of the school finance system
caused them to divert resources to address the needs of at-risk
students.



Orme Sch. v. Reeves, 166 Ariz. 301, 309, 802 P.2d 1000, 1008
(1990) . We review ordefs‘granting summary judgments de novo,
viewing'the evidenee in the light most.fevorable to the parﬁy
against whom summary judgment was entered. Kosman v. State, 199
Ariz. 184, 185, 9 5, 16 P.3d 211, 212 (App. 2000). We also review
the validity of a statutory scheme de novo. .Id.
I.

q8 We first determine whether the superior court properly
granted summary judgment. to the State on the basis that the School
Districts’ complaint raised a nonjusticiable political question
because it “asks for this Court to assume a role that belongs to
the legislature and its desighees.” Minute Entry Ruiing at 4.
“‘Political questions,' broadly defined, involve decisions that
the constitution commits to one of the political branches of
government and raise issues not Susceptible to judicial resolution
according to discoverable and manageable standards.” Forty-
Seventh Legislature of State v. Napolitano, 213 Ariz. 482, 485,
q 7, 143 P.3d 1023, 1026 (2006) (citing Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S.
186, 217 (1962)). Thus, “[tlhe non-justiciability of a political
guestion is primarily a function of the separation of powers.”
‘Baker, 369 U.S. at 210.

q9 The superior court relied primarily on Committee'for
Educational Rights v. Edgar, 672 N.E.2d 1178 (Ill. 1996), in which
the Illinois Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal of a similar
claim by an association of school districts that .Illinois'

statutory school finance system violated its constitutional

7 .



education article.’ According to the court, such a claim was

*outside the sphere of the judicial function,” 672 N.E.2d at 1193,

because “[wlhat constitutes a ‘high quality’ education, and how it

may best be provided, cannot be ascertained by any judiciélly
discoverable or manageable standards. Id. at 1191 (citing Baker,
369 U.S. 217). Instead, the court concluded that a "“judicial
‘role” wnuld be unwise because “tne question of éducational quality
is inhérently one of policy involving philosophical and practical
considerations that call for the exercise of legislative and
administrative discretion.” Id.

q10 We believe_that the superior court erred by granting
summary judgment_ to the State on thé’ basis that the School
Districts’ claims were nonjusticiabie. We acknowledge that, in
addition to the Illinois Supreme Court in Edgar, the supreme
courts in several other states have refused to consider
constitutional challengeé to public school financing schemes on
the ground that such challenges pose nonjusticiable political
questions. See Ex Parte James, 836 So.2d 813 (Ala. 2002);
Coalition for Adeguacy and Fairness in Sch. Funding, Inc. v..
Chiles, 680 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1996); Marrero v. Commonwéalth, 739
A.2d 110 (Pa. 1999); City of Pawtucket v. Sundlun, 662 A.2d 40
(R.I. 1995). Howevef, as noted by the Supreme Court of Texas,

many other state supreme courts have rejected the notion that

7

“The State shall provide for an efficient system of high
guality public educational institutions and services.” Ill. Const.
art. X, § 1.



challenges to their state’s statutory system of public school
finance are nonjusticiable. See Neeley v. West Orange-Cove
Consol. Sch. Dist., 176 S.W.3d 746, 780 n.183 (Tex. 2005) {(listing

cases from fifteen states).

911 The explanations given Ey these courts in rejecting the
application of the political question doctrine when confronted
with such constitutional challenges are similar to the reasons
recently given by our supreme court in Forty-Seventh Legislature
for declining Governor Napolitano's request that the court refrain
from deciding thé Legislature’s claim that she exceeded her item
veto authority under Article' 5, Section 7, of the Arizona

Constitution:

We agree with the Legislature that this
petition presents purely legal questions. To
determine whether a branch of state government
has exceeded the powers granted by the Arizona
Constitution requires that we construe the
language of the constitution and declare what

. the constitution requires. Such questions
traditionally fall to the courts to resolve.
See Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137,
177, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803) (recognizing that “[i]t
is emphatically the province and duty of the
judicial department to say what the law is”).
Although each branch of government must apply
and uphold the constitution, our courts bear
ultimate responsibility for interpreting its
provisions. See State v. Casey, 205 Ariz. 359,
362 9 8, 71 P.3d 351, 354 (2003) (stating that
interpretation of the state constitution 1is
the courts’ province).

213 Ariz. at 485, 9 8, 143 P.3d at 1026. Likewise, the
determination whether the LegiSlature’s statutory scheme for
funding school districts’ maintenance and operations budgets

violates Article 11, § 1 "“is of the very essence of judicial

9



duty.” Marbury, 5 U.S. at 178. Although we should act with
restraint in discharging-our_duty to review the constitutionality
of the statutory scheme, we would undermine the concept 'of
- separation of powers were we to abdiqate'our responsibility to
declare what the law is. We_thereforé'réject the State’s claim,
and the superior court'’'s finding, that the Séhool Districts'’
arguments raise nonjusticiable political questions.

q12 Qur determination that we should not follow the.Edgar
line of cases is supported by Roosevelt I and'its progeny,;“in
which our supreme court has determined that the capital financing
scheme violated Section.l’s general and ﬁhiform requirement and
repeatedly rebuffed legislative efforts to correct the_inequities_
identified in»RooseVélt I. The State apparently did not raise a
nonjusticiability argument .in Rooseveif 1.’ However; the two

dissenting justices would nonetheless have upheld the statutory

3

Symington v. Albrecht, No. CV-96-0614-SA (Ariz. Jan. 15, 1997)
(Supreme Court Order) (finding unconstitutional 1996 1legislation
based on the same overall system rejected in Roosevelt I); Hull v.
Albrecht, 190 Ariz. 520, 950 P.2d 1141 (1997) (Albrecht I) (finding
unconstitutional 1997 Assistance to Build Classrooms Fund
legislation); Hull v. Albrecht, 192 Ariz. 34, 960 P.2d 634 (1998)
(Albrecht II) (finding unconstitutional Students FIRST Act of
1998); see also Roosevelt Elem. Sch. Dist. No. 66 v. State of
Arizona, 205 Ariz. 584, 74 P.3d 258 (App. 2003) (Roosevelt II).

? The plurality opinion characterizes the State'’'s arguments as
being: (1) Arizona's public schools are not “State educational
institutions” within the scope of Article 11, Section 10, of the
Arizona Constitution, and that the State therefore has no
responsibility to fund a general and uniform school system, and (2)
even if the state is responsible for such a system, “general and
uniform” is formal and not substantive. Roosevelt I, 179 Ariz. at

(continued . . .)
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scheme because they “believe[d] the legislature is better suited
to address and solve the substantial and pervasive problems in
today’s public_school system.” 179 Ariz..at 254, 877 P.2d at 827
(Moeller, J., dissenting; joined by'Corcoran, J.) (citing.San
Antonio Indep. Sch. Dist. V..Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 1[ 58-59 (1973)).
q13 The “hands-off” approach of the Roosevelt I dissenters
was again rejected in Albrecht I when the court found the
Legislature’s efforts to address capital funding disparities
unconstitutional and declined Justice Moeller's suggestion in the
dissent that the court permit the legislation “to operate for some
period of time . . . .r[g]iven the deference properly due to
legislation,” 190 Afiz. at 526, 950 P.2d at 1147, with the
observation that “the ‘wait and see’ approach advanced by the
dissent . . . will not work here.” Id. at 523 n.6, 950 P.2d at
1144 n.6. See also Albrecht II, 192 Afiz. at 39, 960 P.2d 639
(invalidating Students FIRST Act) (per curiam). We believe it
unlikely that our supreme court would have repeatedly found_that
‘the various capital funding.schemes devised by the Legislature
violatéd.Article 11, Section 1, had it entertained any notion that
the School District#' claims presented a nonjusticiable political
guestion. Even assuming that a greater degree of judicial
deference should be given to legislative prerogatives‘in assessing
the constitﬁtional adequacy of educational programs than in

assessing the constitutional adequacy of the “bricks and mortar”

240, 877 P.2d at 813.

11



capital funding scheme, we see no reason to distinguish one from
the other in terms of their justiciability.
q14 Although we disagree with the superior court’s rationale
for granting.summary judgment to the State, 1in the rémaining
portion of our decision we consider whether it nonetheless reached
the correct résult. See Mutschler v. City of Phbenix, 212 Ariz.
160, 162, 129 P.3d 71, 73 (App. 2006) (“We will affirm the trial
court’s ruling if the court was correct for any reason.”) .

II. |
q1s _ In their croés—motion for partial summary judgment, the
School Districts asserted that the school finance system is per se
unconstitutional in violation of Article 11, Section 1 because'“it
relies on [a] funding formula that is arbitrary and unreléted to
the cost of providing a basic education.”
q16 | To evaluate the.School.Districts( arbitrariness claim, we
begin with a briéf explanation of Arizona's-statutdry funding
formula for financing the maintenance and operatioﬁs of public
schoqls. Fortunately, as in Roosevelt I, “the parﬁies share_a
common understanding of how Arizona's public ' schools are
financed.” Id. at 237, 877 P.2d at 810. State law prescribes the
amount of money that school districts must spend on each student
within the district.. That amount is then funded through a
chbination'of local property taxes and state funding assistance.
Each school district’s maintenance and operations budgét, which
supports salaries and benefits of employees, supplies, utilities,

and other noncapital miscellaneous expenditures, consists of three

12



components, including a “base support level,” which is éalculated
on a weighted per student basis and is intended to fund nearly all
the programmatic and operational functions of a school district.
For each séhool district, the base support level is computed by
multiplying a “weighted student count” by a “base level amount” by
a “teacher experience index.” A.R.S. § 15-943 (2002).' School
districts are then authorized to impose the qualifying tax rate on
the primary assessed valuation within the. school district. to
generate the local funds necessary to fund the maintenance and
operations budget. To the extent that the qualifying tax rate

does not generate sufficient funds, the State provides the

difference through equalization assistance. A.R.S. § 15-971
(Supp. 2005). Pursuant to the equalization formula, and all other
things being equal, school districts with lower assessed

valuations receive a greater amount of equalization assistance
from the State.

q17 The School Districts claim that this formula 1is
unconstitutionally arbitrary because the statutorily fixed Qbase
level amount” is derived from the base level amount of ﬁunding per
student that existed when the current school finance system was

- established in 1980 as adjusted to reflect inflation and

10 The student count in each district is “weighted” to take into

consideration relative costs associated with educating students in
smaller districts, English language learners, and those with
various emotional or cognitive impairments. § 15-943; see also
A.R.S. § 15-901 (Supp. 2005) (definition of terms).

13



retirement_costsn and bears no corrélation to the actual cost of
meeting currently mandated education standards. See Roosevelt I,
179 Ariz. at 237, 877 P.2d at 810 (“The per-pupil amount appears
'to be unrelated to any minimum amount necessary for a basic
education.”) .

q18 According to the School Distriéts, the funding
mechanism’'s reliance on the base level amount is analogous to the
ABC 1legislation that was found unconstitutional in Albrec@t I
because “the dollar amount chosen to cure inadeqﬁacies in public
school facilities is arbitrary and bears no relation to actual
need.” Albrecht I, 190 Ariz. at 524, 950 P.2d at 1145. Assuming
a finding of arbitrariness, the appropriate remedy for the
resulting funding inadequacy would be for the court to_require the
State to adopt standards of “adequate school operations” and
determine the cost of those operations. Finally, a trial would be
needed to resolve the School Districts’ claims_that they lacked
sufficient resources to provide their students, including those
at-risk, with a meaningful opportunity to achieve the State’'s
newly created academic standards.

19 In response, the State asserts that the School Districts
cannot meet their burden of demonstrating constitutional
inadequacy simply by pointing out that the baseline figure used by

the Legislature in developing the current formula was the actual

11

For fiscal year 2005-2006, the base level is $3,001, an
increase of $107.82 from 2004-2005.

14



per-pupil exﬁenditure for education in 1979-1980 and'that they
have not otherwise shown that the current school finance system
. vprovides . inadequate funding for them to generally provide a basic
education to their students.” The State also argues that, in any
event, the baée per-student support level was not pulled from
“thin air” because it was derived from actual educational
expenditures.®™
$26' In ¢onsidering the School Districts’ claim that the
statutory finahce scheme is unconstitutionally arbitrary, we are
guided by “a strong presumption that it is constitutional.” State
v. Kaiser, 204 Ariz. 514, 517, 9 8, 65 P.3d 463, 466 (App. 2003).
The School Districts must establish beyond a reasonable doubt that
the statutory scheme violates Article 11, Section 1. See Bird v.
State, 184 Ariz. 198, 203, 908 P.2d 12, i7 (1995). “Every
intendment and every preéumption_is in favor of the law, and if on
ény reasonable theory we can hold it constiﬁutional, statutory

construction requires us to do so.” State v. Gastelum, 75 Ariz.

12

The State also asserts that the School Districts’
arbitrariness argument is outside the scope of the pleadings
because their complaint alleged that the finance scheme violated
the rights of at-risk students by not providing sufficient funds
and programs for those students to obtain an adequate education and
not that it is per se unconstitutional because it is unrelated to
the cost of providing a basic education for all students. We
disagree. At-risk students comprise a substantial portion of the
overall student population, and if the finance system violates the
right of students in general to a meaningful opportunity for an
adlequate education, it necessarily would do so for at-risk
students.

15



271, 273, 255 P.2d 203, 204 (1953) (qguoting State v. Davey, 27
Ariz. 254, 258, 232 P. 884, 885 (1925).

q21 . As we understand the School Districts’ position, théy
claim that Article 11, Section 1 requires the State to establish
“minimum operational param_eters”13 ”ﬁhat are neCessary and
appropriate to enable students to achieve the educational
standards that have been adopted by the Board pursuant to the
power delegated by the Legislature. See A.R.S. § 15-203(A)
(Supp. 2005). Then, once these operational parémeﬁers havé géen
established, the State must determine ﬁhe costs of sugh programs
and fund them. . |

q22 We do not believe that the supreme court’'s ;rilogy of
capital funding cases supports .a finding that the school finance
system is per se unconstitutional when ekamined in theicontext_of
maintenance and operations. In Roosevelt. I, the_superintendent of
education conceded.that “the existence of substantial disparities
among the districts and a causal relationship between these
disparities énd the statutory scheme ,,” 179 Ariz. at 243, 877 P.2d

at 816, a concession that was substantiated by the supreme

i3

.As examples of such parameters, the School Districts refer to
-programs to recruit and retain qualified teachers, specifications
regarding appropriate classroom size, determinations regarding
appropriate administrative support levels, and “any other
gualitative measure associated with providing a basic education.”

H Diane Bishop, then the Superintendent of Public Instruction,

admitted in her deposition that there was a “sense of .
bareness about some of the facilities in the poorer districts, that

they are minimal . . . . It is basically four walls, a roof, and
classroom inside, and that’'s about the extent of it.” Id. at 236,
(continued . . .)

16



court’'s -review of the statutory funding scheme for capital
facilities. Although the court commented that the capital funding
scheme appeared arbitrary and did not addréss the actual cost éf
providing a basic education, it did hot declare that equal but
arbitrarily determined funding was itself dunconstitutional.
Rather, it struck down the capital funding scheme because it “ié
itself the source of substantial nonuniformities.” Id.
Accordingly, the court declared that Article _11, Section 1
“requires the legislature to enact appropriate laws to finance
education in the public schools in a way that does not itself
éreate substantial disparities among schools, communities or
districts.” Id.

q23 Thus, there is a significant distinction between the
capital funding scheme in Roosevelt I and the statutofy method for
calculating a public school’s mainﬁénancé’ and operations
budget—the capital funding scheme caused substantial disparities
between school districts whereas the maintenance and operations
statutory finance scheme produces substantial uniformity between

5

districts.” We acknowledge that uniformity does not ensure

877 P.2d at 809.
2 The capital funding scheme overturned in Roosevelt I is
similar to the maintenance and operationg budgetary scheme in that
both schemes begin with a calculation of a base support level per
pupil under A.R.S. § 15-943 (2002). 179 Ariz. at 237, 877 P.2d at
810. Inter-district disparities were inevitably introduced into
the capital funding scheme then in effect, however, because—unlike
the maintenance and operations financing scheme—districts were
permitted to raise additional funds beyond the equalized level
through bonded indebtedness to the extent that such indebtedness

(continued . . .)
17



constitutional adequacy, but, as noted in Roosevelt I, "[flunding
mechanisms that provide sufficient funds to educate children on
substantially equal terms tend to satisfy the general and uniform
requirement.” ‘179 Ariz. at 241, 877 P.2d at 814. Clearly,

Arizona's statutory financing éystem for public school maintenance
and operations budgets is not itself the cause of any funding
'disparities. Therefore, we conclude that Roosevelt I does not
support the Schoél_Districts’ per se argument.

924 The School Districts’ additional reliance on Albrecht I
is also misplaCed! In Albrecht I, the court held that the
Legislature’s attempt to remedy the constitutional inadeéuacies'
previously identified in Roosevelt I by legislation that arguably
reduced the disparity in revenue-raising ability to.a four-to-one
ratio was insufficient. The majority rejected the dissent’s
argument that the ABC legislation should be presumed
constitutional by reasoning that "“[tlhis Was a post-judgment
enforcemént proceeding, and thus the burden was on the state to
show compliance.” 190 Ariz. at 522, n.2, 950 P.24d at 1143,~n.2.

We do not perceive anything in these two cases that would relievé
the School Districts from proving that the statutory scheme for
financing maintenance and operations budgets deprived students of

a meaningful opportunity to receive an adequate education.

did not exceed a certain percentage of the district’s total
assessed property valuation. Id. The bonds were subject to voter
approval because they had to be repaid through an increase in
property taxes. Id. Thus, “the true amount of funding [was] based
upon the wvalue of a district’s property and its ability and

(continued . . .)
18



q25 Finally, in Albrecht II, the supreme court held the
Students FIRST funding plan unconstitutional _because, by
restricting the bonding capacity of some school districts and
aliowing districts to opt out of the funding plan, it éréated
systemic differen¢es between districts in their abilities to
exceed state minimums through local funding. 192 Ariz. at 39,
q 19, 960 P.2d at 639. The resulting disparities, perpetuated by
the financing system itself, were unconstitutional. Id. Nothing
in the court’é holding, however, supports the School Districts’
contention that because the base support level was -an arbitrary
number, it was therefore unconstitutional.

qa26 Reduced to its essence, the School Districts’ claim is
that Article 11, Section 1 requires'the State to identify and fund
the operational programs necessary to enéble public school
students to meet athievehent standards. Although this may be an
effective strategy to fulfill the constitutionél requirement.;hat
the State provide an adequate education, our constitution does not
require_such a cost-based approach in determining whether the
State hés met its obligation to “enact such laws as shall provide
for the establishment and maintenance of a general and uniform
public school system.” Further, we cannot say that the statutory
scheme’s reliance on a base funding level, which was originally
pegged to stétewide educational expenditures for the year in which

it was adopted, is arbitrary in the constitutional sense of the

willingness to tax it.” Id.
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word. See Neeley, 176 S.W.3d at 784 (defining an action as
“arbitrary when it is taken without reference to guiding rules or
principles”).
. q27 Therefore, the School Districts were not entitled to
partial summary judgment that the .statutory_ system used to
calculate maintenance and operations budgeﬁs is per se
constitutionally deficient.

III.
28 We next address whether the State was eﬁtitled to summary
judgment that the operations and hanagement budget. financing
scheme did not violate the rights of at-risk students under
Article 11, Section 1. In addition to asserting that the School-
Districts’ claim was nonjusticiable, the State also maintained
that it is not required by Article 11, Sectioni 1 to remedy
educational disparities for . at-risk ™ students caused - by
socioceconomic factors rather than by the financing scheme. See
Roosevelt I, 179 Ariz. at 242, 877 P.2d at 815 (“The critical
issue is whether [any] disparitiés are the result of the financing
scheme the state éhooses.”); id. at 243, 877 P.2d at'8167(5We also
emphasize that disparities that are not the result of the state’s
- own financing scheme do not implicate the interests sought to be
served by art. XI, § 1.”).
929 The group of students labeled “at—risk” by the Scthl
Districts is more likely to fail the AIMS test than other studenté

who do not come from economically disadvantaged backgrounds. As
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aiready mentioned, 9 2, n.4, infra, the complaint classified at-
risk students as those who are eligible for free or reduced-price
school lunches, that is, those with family incomes below 185% of
the federal poverty level. 1In response to the State’'s motion for
summary judgment, the School.Districts asserted that there are a
variety of programs and strategies (including, e.g., preschool,
all-day kindergarten, smaller class sizes, tutoring, and parental
involvement) that can offer lower socioeeonomic-class students a
meaningful oppertunity to achieve the State’s academic standards.
930 Based on the record in this case, we agree with the State
that the School Districts have not produced evidence that the
maintenance and operations component of the public school finance
system deprives atfrisk students of an opportunity to meet
academic standards. Unlike the capital funding scheme declared
unconstitutional in Roosevelt I, tne scneme for funding
maintenance and operations allocates approximately the same amount
of funds per “weighted” student for each school district. - Thus,
'in contrast to the capital funding scheme that was stfuck ddwn;
the scheme for _funding maintenence and operations is
constitutionally “uniform” in terms of funding.

q31 We recognize that an educational system that is uniform
is not necessarily adeqguate in terms of providing a basic
education. Id. at 242 n.7, 877 P.2d at 815 n.3 (stating that
ssatisfaction of the uniformity requirement does not neceesarily

satisfy the substantive education requirement”). Thus, an
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educational sysnem that did not establish minimum educational
standards and provide sufficient funds to implement them would
probably be deemed inadequate. But’the Schonl Districts have not
.alleged that the Legislature, acting through the Board, haé failed
to establish appropriate academic -standards. Indeed, as they
concede on appeal, the State has adopted “educational achievement
standardé” and prescribed “in great detail the cufriculum that
" must be taught in the schools.” Opening Brief at 34-35.

32 For example, A.R.S. § 15-203(A)(13) (Supp. 2005) requires
the Board to “[plrescribe minimum course of study and competency
fequirements for the graduation of pupils from high school.” As
noted by Justice Feldman in his concurring opinion in Roosevelt I,
“[tlhe Board regularly sets and updates the minimum courses of
study and competency requirements for Arizona’'s schoolchildren.”
179 ariz. at 248,_877 P.2d at 821. The Arizona Administrative
Code sets forth twenty credit hours as the minimum number of
credits necessary for high school graduation as prescribed by the
Board and local governing boards. A.A.C. R7-2-302. (There is a
similar regulation.that applies to common schools.) The Board has

promulgated detailed content standards for required high school

subject areas by grade. See
http://www.ade.state.az.us/standards/contentstandards.asp (last
visited Novémber 17, 2006). For instance, the current reading
standard |

is dividéd into three strands: Reading

Process, Comprehending Literary Text, and

Comprehending Informational Text. Each strand
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is divided into concepts that broadly define

the skills and knowledge that students are

expected to know and be able to do. Under

each concept are performance objectives that

more specifically delineate the tasks to be

taught and learned. ' :
Http://www.ade.state.az.us/standards/language-
arts/ReadingStandardIntro.dQc (last visited November 17, 2006).
Teachers rmust satisfy rigorous <certification regquirements,
including passing a proficiency assessment exam and completing a
" teacher preparation_progrmn in their subject area(s) and nﬁst
demonstrate the ability to design léssbns that teach Arizona’s
academic standards. A.A.C. R7-2-601 et seq.
933 | The burden was on the School Districts to present
evidence that would support a findihg beyond a reasonablé doubt
that the current statutory financingr scheme is th
constitutionally adequate. See Bird, 184,Ariz._at 203, 908 pP.2d
at 17. .They chose to try to meet this burden by showing that a
disproportionate number of students from lower income families
perform poorly on the AIMS test. This approach is premised on the
School Districts’ mistaken belief that Article 11, Section 1,
which requires the Legislature to ‘“enact such laws as shall
provide for the establishment and méintenance of a general and
uniform public school system,” mandates the Legislature to target
the needs of and focus additional resources on at-risk students in
order for them to'attain a particular achievement level, rather

than structure an efficient system that provides a meaningful

opportunity. for all students to receive a basic education.
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34 We assume that, as contended by the School Distriets,
focusing aaditional resources on at-risk students might very well
be an effective method to improve the test scores of this category
of underperforming students . But, regardless of the wisdom of
doing so, our constitution, which does net speak in ﬁerms of cost-
based “inputs” or achievement “outputs, ” does not require the
‘Legislature to formulate and fund educational plans-designed to
overcome disparities that it had no role in creating and are not
caused by inadequacies in the educational system. Here, the
underlying circumstances common to at-risk students that ere
'predictors of poor perfermance, e.g., low parent participatien and
low self—esteem,'are_not'eaused_by the State’s educational funding_
system but are attributable to a dysfunctional home environment
that, unlike deteriorating capital facilities, cannot easily be
remedied by an influx of money.16 As noted by the superior court,
“the causal relation with respect to operations is murky at best.”
Because the School Districts did not present proof that the

current statutory scheme does not provide sufficient funds for

e According to a 1991 report on Arizona’'s at-risk students

prepared by the Morrison Institute for Public Policy on behalf of
the Arizona Department of Education, at-risk indicators vary by age
. group. For K-3 students, the six at-risk indicators that
correlated most closely with low achievement included few reading
materials at home, low self-esteem, substance abuse by parents,
abusive home environment, emotional/behavioral problems and low
parent support. Morrison Report at 6. For 7-12 students, the six
leading characteristics of low achievers were: 1lack of involvement
in school/community activities, retention in at 1least one
elementary grade, having a sibling who dropped out of school,
having dropped out themselves, having been suspended or expelled,
and having been convicted of a crime. Id.

24 -



public schoois’ maintenance and operations budgets, the'State was
entitled to summary judgment.
THE DISSENT

q35 | The dissent makes some good points. For example; we
agree with the dissent’s assertion, 9§ 62, infra, that the
rationale of the capital finance cases also requires the State to
adopt minimum standards for maintenance and operations so as to
ensure an adequate educational opportunity for all students.
However, unlike the .dissént, we do not accept the School
Districts’ premise that the constitutional adequacy of the State’s
educational system hinges solely on how well at-risk students
perform on the AIMS test. As a tool used to measure academic
achievement, it ia'simply one component of the State’s overall
educational system; that a certain subgroup of students performs
more poorly on the test than another subgroup does not, by itself,
support a conclusion that .the educatiOnal system is
constitutionally inadequate.

936 ~ The dissent also élaims that our analysis “could be
applied to leave [homeless and disabled] students out in the
cold.” 9 52 n.22, infra. We disagreei First, notwithstanding
the dissent’s parade of horribles, the application of Article 11,
Section 1 to such students is not an issue in this case and there
is no claim before us that Arizona’s statutory scheme for homeless

and disabled students does not comply with all applicable legal

regquirements. See, e.g., A.R.S. § 15-943 {student count
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"weighted" to take into consideration students with emétional or
cognitive impairments). Second, and more importantly, the

constitutional rationale underlying the various federal and staté
statutes and regulations applicable to both homeless and disabled
student-age populations was not that such students have a
constitutional right to a particular level of education; rather it
was that treating these students differently from other students
violated due process and equal protection guarantees by deny}ng
them access to equal educational opportunities. See Bd. of Educ.

of Hendrick Hudson Cent. Sch. Dist., Westchester CountY'v. Rowley,

458 U.S., 176, 192, (1982) (discussing the constitutional basis of
lower court decisions and describing “the intent of the [Education.
for All Handicapped Children Act!’] was more to open.the door of
public education to handicapped children on appropriate terms than
to guarantee any particular level of educétion énce ihside.”); No
Child Left Behind Act of 2001 § 721(1) (2001) (requiring state
educational agencies to ensure that homeless children have equal

access to the same free,.appropriate public education as provided
to other. children).. Because Arizona‘s financing scheme for
maintenance and operations budgets is structured to provide equal
access to the same basic educational opportunities for all

students, it satisfies federal constitutional requirements. And,

17

This Act was a predecessor to the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C.A. § 1400,

(continued . . .)
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as we have already explained, Article'll, Section 1 does not
impose a constitutional réquirement that the State provide
suppleméntal programs to at—risk students to improve_their chances
of passing the AIMS test.

CONCLUSION
q37 Based on the foregoing, we affirm the superior court’s
denial of the School Distficts’ motion for partiai summary

judgment and its grant of summary judgment to the State.

P ALgp

PHILI HALL, Preésiding Judge

ER, Judge

KES SLER, Judge, concurring in part and dissenting.in part:

q38 I concur with.the majority that the superior court erred
in finding this case nonjusticiable and correctly denied the
Districts’ motion for partial summary judgment. I dissent,
however, from the méjority’s holding that the superior court
correctly granted éummary judgment for the State. I would hold
that: (1) Article 11, Section 1 of the Arizona Constitution
("“Section 1”) requires the State té.provide an adequate.education

to all Arizona school children; (2) the conduct claimed by the

et seqg. (2004).
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Districts can_amoﬁnt to a violation of Section 1; and (3).there is
sufficient evidence in the record to preclude summary.judgment for
the State on this claim. |
.I. Justiciability

939 The Districts’ complaint alleges Arizona’'s school finance
‘system is unconstitutional because it failed to‘provide adequate
 programs and funding to enable students from lower socioeconomic
backgrounds (“at-risk” students) to have an.equal opportunity to
meet state-preécribed academic standards.. The State contends that
these issues are nonjuéticiable_because they would require courts
to dictate what an adequate education is, infringing on the powers
of the Legislature and the Executive, in violation of separation
of powers.

940 The Districts expressly disavowed any attempt to have the
courts fashion school operational programs or finances, explaining
they only sought declaratory relief on the cthtitutionality of

the current financing scheme and academic programs.'® I take the

Districts at their word and interpret the Districts’ complaint

18 The Districts told the superior court that they were seeking

“a declaration from this Court that the school finance system is
unconstitutional, nothing more and nothing less. The Plaintiffs do
not ask and have never asked the Court to establish standards,
provide funding or ‘create a new system.’'” [I.80 at 4]

The supérior court also implied that the determination of what
students were “at-risk” was sufficiently subjective as not to be
justiciable. However, the Districts defined in their complaint
what they mean as “at-risk” by objective criteria: students whose
family incomes are below 185% of the federal poverty level and who
are eligible for free or reduced-price school lunches.
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_more narrowly than did the superior court.'® As I read the
cqmplaint, the Distriéts seek (1) a declaration that the financing
scheme for operations and management does not produce a general
and uniform, i.e., adequate, school system and (2) an ordef that
the State must devélop standards for adequate'schobl “operations”
and provide funding to meet those standards.
q41 | As such, the claim is justiciable. Not only is the
majority’'s conclusion consistent with the school capital financing

cases, but it is the approach favored by current commentators on

the role of the judiciary on the issue of a éonstitutional right:

to an education. E.g., Larry J. Obhof, Rethinking Judicial
Activism and Restraint in State School Finance Litigation, 27
Harv. J.L & Pub. Pol’'y 569, 588-89 n.1l23 (Spring 2004) (“Obhof*")
942 The State also contends the Districts have asked the
court to make policy decisions without judicially manageable
étandardsw The State cites cases in which othef'state courts.have

dismissed challenges to school financing plans as nonjusticiable.?’

As our supreme court observed in Roosevelt I, however, decisions’

interpreting the differing language of other states’ constitutions

19

Roosevelt Elem. Sch. Dist. No. 66 v. Bishop, 179 Ariz. 233,
877 P.2d 806 (1994) (Roosevelt I); Hull v. Albrecht, 190 Ariz. 520,
950 P.2d 1141 (1997) (Albrecht I); Hull v. Albrecht, 192 Ariz. 34,
960 P.2d 634 (1998) (Albrecht II); Roosevelt Elem. Sch. Dist. No.
66 v. State of Arizona, 205 Ariz. 584, 74 P.3d 258 (App. 2004)
(Roosevelt II).

20 See, e.g., Marrero v. Commonwealth, 739 A.2d 110, 111, 113-14
(Pa. 1999) (court cannot define what is adequate education or what
funding is required for such education; constitution has committed
these exclusively to legislature).
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do not provide much guidance regarding our constitution. 179 Afiz.
at 241, 877 P.2d at 814.  Our conclusion is consistent with those
courts which have not hesitated to determine whether academic
programs and financing were sufficiently.adequate to meet their
constitutional provisions dealing with.éducation, a.position one
commentator has described as the majority view.Zi E.g., Seattle
Sch. Dist. No. 1 v. State, 585 P.2d 71, 90-105 (1978); Neeley v.
West Orange-Cove Consol. Indep. Sch., 176 S.W.3d 746, 777780,
n.183 (Tx. 2005) (collecting cases)._. It wiil be up. to .£he
Districts, assuming the supreme court grants review and reverses
the superior court’s summary judgment for the State, to produce
sufficient evidence to permit a court to determine if the curfent
state programs afe inadequate.

q43 I emphasize, however, that the fole of the judiciéry at
this point is not to determine for the Legislature and ‘the
Department of Educétion what programs and resources are needed to
meet the requirements of Section 1. The approach taken here and
by the supreme court and this Court in. the capital financing cases
is to review whether the decisions made by the two other branches

meet the requirements of Section 1. Except under extraordinary

21

John Dayton & Anne Dupre, School Funding Litigation: Who'’s
Winning the War, 57 Van.L.Rev.2351, 2393, 2400-01 (Nov. 2004)
(“Dayton”). P

Indeed, the complaint, based upon adequacy of education,
represents a shift used by many plaintiffs to further define
constitutional guarantees of an equal education. Dayton, 57
Van.L.Rev. at 2393, 2400-01;, Patricia First & Barbara M. De Luca,
The Meaning of Educational Adequacy: The Confusion of Derolph, 32

(continued . . .)
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circumstances not presenﬁ here, the judicial branch must exercise
restraint and recognize it. is not the appropriate branch of
-gdvernment to formulate an educational system that addreSSes
social inequalities, but only to determine if the legislaﬁive
attempts comport with constitutioﬁal requirementé.
II. The Districts’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
q44 I concur with the majority that the Districts’ claim that
the statutory education funding scheme_is per se.unconstituti;nal.
fails as a matter of law. I add two poiﬁts to clarify the meaning
and effect of this conciusion. |
9145 First, the Districts assert that base level funding'must‘
be linked to achievement of academic standards, that the only way
to do that is to determine what each of the elements of a basic
education costs, and that without cost-based funding, - the
ifinancing system is per sé unconstitutional. ' The majbrity points
out that “cost-based” funding is only one Inéans to determine
whether the funding scheme is adequate. In this context, “cost-
baéed” funding aésumes that increased funding per se will assist
in improving education. While sufficient funding is a necessary
base for an adequate education, that does not necessarily mean
that increased funding per se will improve education. Equally
plausible is that districts and the State can create programs
which improve adequacy of educatién for at-risk.students without

simply throwing more money at the problem. | See e.g. Eric A.

J.L.&Educ. 185, 190-202 (Apr. 2003).
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When School Finaﬁce ‘Reform” May Not Be Good Policy, 28.Harv.J;on
Légis. 423, 425 (1991). I find no authority in our constitution
or supreme ¢ourt cases to reéuire the State to adopt a cost—basea
_strategy as a matter of law. |

q46 Second, the Districts do nét-argue_they have evidence
that the current funding scheme as applied is arbitrary and
capricious. If the supreme court ultimately détermines-that the
State was not entitled to summary judgment, nothing in our holding
today precludes the Districts from arguihg that the funding scheme
as applied is constitutionally inadequate. Thatf however, will
require evidence linking the ' funding scheme to the élleged
inadequacy of operation budgets and progfams for at-risk students.
See Dayton, 57 Van.L.Rev. at 2378 (“plaintiffé must link
expenditures to educational opportunity . . . no plaintiff has
ultimately prevailed without convincing the court of the existence
of a positive correlation between expenditﬁreé and educational
opportunity”).

III. The State’s Motion for Summary Judgment

47 I part company from the majority in its holding that the
State is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the Districté’
claim that the State has failed to provide an adequate education
to enable at-risk stuaents to have an equal opportunity to meet
State-mandated academic achievement standards. First, I disagree
on the majority’s theoretical foundation. Second, I conciude that
Section 1 provides a constitutional right to an adequate education
in the sense of an equal opportunity to meet State-mandated
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academic staﬁdards. Third, the State programs could have “caused”
this inadequacy in the meaning of the school capital financing
cases. Finally, the State has not shown that the evidenée
precludes the Districts as a matter of law from proving that
constitutional inadequacy.

A. Fouhdational Basis

q48 As I understand the majority‘’s theoretical foundation, it
hoids that Séctian 1 only requires that the State provide. an
overall adequate education. Thus, if the educational system is
adéquate on some undefined overall basis statewide, the fact it
might be inadequate to provide subsets of students an equal
opportunity to méét mandated academic achievement standards is of
no constitutional hatter.

q49 I can find nothing in Section 1 which provides such a
limitation on Section 1's requiremeht for an adequate education.
As discussed below, our constitutional framersrrequired the State
to provide an adequate education for all Arizona‘’s children, not
jﬁst certain types of children. There is nothing in the records
of the constitutional convention or in any Arizona case law which
supports the view that 1if the Stgte pfovides students on an
average with an adequate education, it need not worry about those
students who fall below that average; |

q50 The majority’'s foundational base is at least in tension,
if not in conflict with the supreme court’s hblding in Albrecht I.
While the court there.was dealing with capital financing rather

than operations, it held that once a standard is set, the State
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may not avoid its constitutional duty to ensure that no school
district falls below that standard:

[S]tatewide substantial equalization and 1local
option to go above and beyond the standard are
irreconcilable unless the legislature establishes
standards for adeguate capital facilities.. Once a
standard is set, the legislature must choose a
funding mechanism that does not cause substantial
disparities and that ensures that no school in
Arizona falls below the standard. . . . The
general and uniform requirement applies only to the
state’s constitutional obligation to fund a public
school system that is adequate.

190 Ariz. at 524, 950 P.2d at 1145 (emphasis supplied). The court

concluded that,

in addition to providing a minimum quality and

quantity "standard for buildings, a
constitutionally adequate system will make
available to all districts financing

sufficient to provide facilities and equipment
necessary and appropriate to enable students
to master the educational goals set' by the
legislature or by the Board of Education.
Id. (Emphasis supplied).
q51 As I understand the Districts’ theory, they do not insist
that the State is constitutionally mandated to provide every
student with an “adequate education,” defining “adequate
education” as passing the standard which the State has mandated
for academic advancement and graduation - the AIMS test. Rather,
I understand the Districts to contend that the adequate education
it seeks is sufficient programs and funding to give “at-risk”

students an equal opportunity to pass the AIMS test.
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q52 The majority’s theoretical base does not sufficiently
‘address the Districts’ concern: can the State base the adequacy of
its acédemic operations and resources at some theoretical “o&erall
level” and simply ignore whether that definition of radequacy”
gives subsets of students an equal opportunity to meet that
academic standafd? Could, hypothetically, the State say it has
found that its programs and budgets for operations are adequate to
permit students in Paradise Valley and North Scottsdale a fair
chance to pass the AIMS test and say that if it is adequate for
those students, it is adequate for the entire State? Could the
State set a standard for adequacy and simply ignore or underfund
the needs of homeless or disabled students? _I think that is the
issue presented and where I find the majority’s theoretical

concept wanting.®

22

This is not to say that the Districts are contending Section 1
requires. every student to have an equal opportunity to pass the
AIMS test or that their argument is based on equality of funding
between districts as opposed to adequacy of funding. When,
however, a plaintiff can identify a subset of the student
population in various districts or schools for whom the budget and
resources are inadequate, the State cannot ignore that subset’s
needs.

I do not imply that the majority or the State is
intending to say that the State has no obligation to care for
disabled students at all. My point is that, taken to its logical
conclusion (and absent federal or statutory requirements), the
majority’s theory could be applied to leave these subsets of
students out in the cold or defend providing Section 1 inadequat
resources to those students. :
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B. Arizona children have a constitutional right to an adequate
education that goes beyond capital financing and beyond bricks and
mortar.

q53 . The State contends that this case is unlike the school
capital financing cases because those cases dealt with a scheme
that directly caused large funding differences among districts
regardless of the Districts’ needs for capital facilities. This
case, it argues, deals with adequacy of educational programs.
Thus, the State appears to contend Section 1 does not Create a
constitutional right to an adequate education and appears to limit
the capital financing cases to addressing gross disparities in
capital funding.??

q54 While we do not need to reach the issue of whether
Section 1 creates a fundamental right to an adequate education, I
disagree with any implication that Section 1 does not fequire the
State to provide sufficient funds and programs to provide all
Arizona’'s school children with an equal opportunity to meet State-
mandated academic standards. Based on language and reasoning in
prior supreme court decisions and the records of the Arizona
Constitutional Convention, Section 1, at a minimum, creates a
constitutional right of Arizona school children to an equal

opportunity to meet State-mandated academic goals. Consistent

2  The State, however, also seems to assume throughout its brief

on appeal that Section 1 obligates it to provide an adequate
education.
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with the views of the drafters of our state constitution, “a

system of general education;'which shall reach every description
- of our éitizens from the richest to the poorest, as it was the

earliest, so will it be the létest of ‘all the public .concerns

. n2d |
1. Precedential Authority

q55 While Section 1 only refers to a “general and uniform”

education, the supreme court has made it cleaf that suchrt;ims

were intended to require the State to provide an adequate

education. In Shofstall v. Hollins, 110 Ariz. 88, 90-91, 515 P.2d

590, 592-93 (1973), a school district and taxpayers challengea'the

system of public school financing as a violation of equal

protection. In reversing the superior court’s grant of sﬁmmary

judgment to the plaintiffs, the court expressly held that.“the

constitution does establish education as a fundamental right

The constitution, by its provisions, assures to every child a

basic education.” Id., 110 Ariz. at 90, 515 P.2d at 592.%°

24

Thomas Jefferson to J.C. Cabell, 1818,
http:/www.monticello.org/reports/education.html (last visited Nov.
9, 2006).

* The supreme court later questioned whether that “right” was
“fundamental” in nature because the court in Shofstall applied a
rational basis test to the school financing scheme. Roosevelt I,
179 Ariz. at 238, 877 P.2d at 811l. The court, however, has never
overruled or disapproved the holding in Shofstall that the
constitution at least requires the State to provide a basic
education. See Magyar v. Tucson Unif. Sch. Dist., 958 F. Supp.
1423, 1442-43 (D. Ariz. 1997) (noting that supreme court in
Roosevelt I rejected the use of a rational basis test for

{continued . . .)
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956 The school capital financing cases also uniformly hold
that Section 1 requires an adequate education, at least in the
form of capital financing. In Roosevelt I, our supreme court held
that because .capital. funding for public schools was heavily
dependent on local property taxation, the funding scheme
inevitably caused substantial disparities in school facilities and
‘did not comply with our constitution/s mandate for a general and
uniform school system. 179 Ariz. at 242f43, 877 P.2d at 815-16.
The court continued that éapital disparities were “simply the
first symptoms of a system—widevproblem.” 179 Ariz. at 237 n.3,
877 P.2d at 810 n.3. While the court explained that the “contours
of sufficiency” were not before it, it recognized a substantive
educational requirement independent, but related to the uniformity
regquirement:

Satisfaction of the substantive education

regquirement does not necessarily satisfy the

uniformity requirement, just as satisfaction

of the  uniformity requirement does not

necessarily satisfy the substantive education

reguirement.
Id., 179 Ariz. at 241 n.7, 877 P.2d at 814 n.7. There can be no

other meaning to the court’s language but that it was referring to

the substantive academic education offered to students.

fundamental rights and holding that an adequate education is a
fundamental right in Arizona).
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26 Justice Feldman noted that the

- 957 In a concurring opinion,
Board of Education already had adopted minimum courses of study
and minimum competency requirements for promotion of studehts.
Id. at 248, 877 P.2d at 821 (Feldman, J., specially concurring).
In light of those standards, he concluded the Legislature could
not create disparities that would prevent some districts from

being able to provide the facilities, books, and equipment “needed

to give students an egqual opportunity to attain the Board’'s

prescribed minimum course of study.” Id. at 248-49, 877 P.2d at
821-22.
q58 The Legislature responded to Roosevelt I and adopted a

capital funding scheme called the Assistance to Build Classrooms
Fund (“ABC” Fund). In Albrecht I, the supremé court held that the
ABC plan not only “result{ed] in disparities in revenue-raising
abilities among districts,” id. at 522, 950 PJ2d at 1143, but

perpetuated the core problem of substantial reliance on property

taxation. Because the value of property within the districts

varied widely, and the presence of taxable property in a

particular district might bear no relationship to the district's

26 Justice Feldman disagreed with the majority’s holding that the

state must provide “funds to educate children on substantially
equal terms” and instead concluded the constitution requires “an
equal opportunity” to obtain “the basic, minimum education”
prescribed by the state. Id. at 246, 877 P.2d at 819. He also
disagreed with the majority, which found the complaint -did not
raise the issue of whether Section 1 required the state to provide
an adequate education, and would have addressed that issue. Id. at
249-50, 877 P.2d at 822-23.
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capital needs, the funding plan was unconstitutional. Id. at 523-
24, 950 Pi2d at 1144-45. Importantly, as noted above, q 50,
supra, the supreme court added that the Legislature had to
. establish a standard for adequate facilities and ensure ne school
fell below that standard so_;hat allidistricts coﬁld have the
facilities to enable students to meet state—mandated educational
goals to ensure_that the public school system is adequate. Id. at
524, 950 P.2d at 1145.

q59 The supreme court in Albrecht I ﬁsed laﬁéuege supporsing
the conclusion that an_adeqﬁate education requires -sufficient
funding of maintenance and operations. As explained in Albrecht
I, the State has an obligation to: (1) set standards forian
adequate education; (2) “choose'a funding mechanism that does.not
cause substantial disparities and that ensures that no schoql in
Arizona falls below the standard;"'andi(B) piovide-sufficient
funding to enable students to master the set standards. i90 Ariz.
at.524, 950 P.2d at 1145. (Emphasis supplied). i see no reason
to limit these reguirements to capital financing._

q60 The Legislature’s next attempt to fix the capital funding
problem came before the court in Albrecht II, in which the court
considered the Students FIRST plan. The court noted that Albrecht
I had held “that legislatively established standards for adequate
capital facilities are a core component - of a general and uniform

public school finaﬁcing system.” 192 Ariz. at 36-37, 9 8, 960
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P.2d at 636-37. (Emphasis supplied). Thus, in addition to
setting standards, a funding scheme (1) must provide funding to
.ensure that no district falls below these standards; and (2) must
not cadse substantial disparities among districts. Id. at 37, q
8, 960 P.2d at 637. Thus, the State’s obligatioh.is'not just to
avoid causing disparity, but to also set standards and ensure that
the schools have sufficient funding and resources to give students
an equal opportunity to meet those standards. “
ﬁ61 More recently( some school districts .challenged an
amended version of Students FIRST, which adopted building adequacy
standards and proVided money for new scheol facilities, correction
of deficient facilities, and maintenance of existing facilities.
' Roosevelt II, 205 Ariz. at 586, YT 5-7, 74 P.3d at 260. The
districts argued that failure to fully fund the building reﬁewal
fund violated the constitution. Id. at 589, 9 21, 74 P.3d at 263.
This Court held that because the districts did not show that iack
of funds for building renewal impaired their ability to xneet'
academic standards, they did not prove a constitutional violation.
Id. at 591, 9 32, 74 P.3d at 265. Implicit in the decision is the
recognition that adequacy of facilities is a constitutional
requirement because without such adequacy, it would be impossible
to determine whether the fund uneoﬁstitutionally interfered with

the students’ ability to meet academic standards.
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962 Thus, the school capital financial case support the
conclusion that the “general and uniform” public school system
guaranteed by Section 1 requires the State to adopt a_ndnimum
standard for both capital financing and maintenance and opérations

for an adequate education for_all‘studénts.

2. An adequate education reguires more than adequate
facilities.
963 In its motion for summary judgment, the State argued that

while our courts have found the Arizona Constitution guaranteéé a
minimal level of measurable adequacy for capital facilities, these
cases do not guarantee a.minimal level of measurable adequacy for.
management and Qperation of schools. On appeal, the State
continues to urge that it should not be required to set and fund
adequate standards for the management and operation of education
because “studénts_ from different backgrounds, in different
communities, are not like thé roof, laboratories, and gymnasiums
addressed by the capital facilities cases. They cannot be reduced
torsquare footage terms.”

q64 Thus, we are confronted with the issue which Jﬁstice
Feldman addressed in his concurrence in Roosevelt I, but which the
supreme court concluded it did not have to address - whether
Section 1 obligates the State to provide an equal opportunity to
achieve an adequate education. 179 Ariz. at 246, 249-51, 877 P.2d
at 819, 822-23. I agree in part with the State that different

districts may need different programs to meet State-mandated
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academic standards. Those differences, however, do not relieve
the State from its constitutional obligation to provide sufficient
funding‘and programs needed by each district to foer an adeqﬁate
and equal opportunity to all étudents to meet the uniform academic
standards measured by the AIMS test.

q65 Indeed, to hold otherwise would make adequate capital
financing to ensure an adequate education a hollow gesture. The
purpose of Section 1, according to the bapital financing éasés,
was not simply to create equal or even merely adequate buildings,
bﬁt to provide for an adequaté education'for Afizona's school
children. The need .for adequate capital financing would be
meaningless if at the same time the State could refuse to provide
funds to provide an. adequate education. Without a floor of
adequacy, Section 1 would mean that the Legislature could provide
insufficient or no funding for educational programs, books or
teachers, even though the buildings for teaching were
coﬁstitutionally adequate. Adequate capital facilities without
adequate programs and teaching cannot constitute an adequate
education and would make a mockery of the intent of our
‘constitution’s drafters.

3. Intent of the Constitutional Drafters.

966 My conclusion 1is consistent with _the intent of the
drafters of our constitution. As the supreme court madé clear,

those drafters understood the importance of an adequate education
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to a republic and intended to ensure that such an education was

provided for in Section 1:

The conventioneers believed that an educated citizenry
was extraordinarily important to the new state. Early
drafts of the education article began with “[a] general
diffusion of knowledge and intelligence being essential
to the preservation of the rights and liberties of the
people . . . ,” and “{t]lhe stability of a Republican form
of Government depending mainly on the intelligence of the
people . . . .” The conventioneers believed these were
more than mere words. By 1910, they had witnessed the
most intense immigration in the history of America. They
were keenly aware that education was responsible for
preserving America’s wunity while wave after wave of
peoples arrived from other countries. As the heated
debates about education as a requirement for voting show,
the conventioneers believed that a free SOC1ety could not
exist without educated participants.

Roosevelt I, 179 Ariz. at 239, 877 P.2d at 812. (Citations
~omitted) .
As the supreme court further emphasized:

As the conventioneers who drafted Arizona's
constitution foresaw, public education has been a key to
America's success. The education provisions of the
constitution acknowledge that an enlightened citizenry is
critical to the existence of free institutions, limited
government, and individual responsibility. Financing a
general and uniform public school system is in our
collective self-interest.

179 Ariz. at 243, 877 P.2d at 8l6.

967 This recognition of the importance of an adequate public
education is not limited to Arizona. See Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406
U.S. 205, 221 (1972) (citing Thomas Jefferson: "“some degree of

education 1s necessary to prepare citizens to participate

effectively and intelligently in our open political system if we
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are to preserve freedom and independence.”); Elizabeth Reilly,
Education and the Constitution: Shaping Each Other and the Next
Century, 34 BAkron L.Rev. 1, 2 (2000) (A basic education is
essential to both American ideals and our economic system because
“it is not only our political system that is dependent upon a
viable and successful educational system. Our economic system
also proclaims 1its reliance upon well-trained and educated
workers.”’). As one commentator has phrased it,

Educated citizens are also better able to

choose - and serve as - responsible and

knowledgeable public officials, and citizens

who are informed of their —rights and

responsibilities  serve as a check against

governmental abuse . . .. Perhaps most

importantly, though, the American social

system rested on two goals that require access

to education: the ‘melting pot’ that absorbs

diverse populations into a pluralistic society

and the upward mobility that allows us to

overcome class barriers. '
Obhof, 27 Harv. J.L & Pub. Pol’y at 570-71.
C. While the constitution does not guarantee an equal education,
the State has an obligation to provide sufficient programs and

funds so that all students have an adeguate and egqual opportunity
to meet uniform State-mandated academic standards.

968 The State gontends it has no duty to remedy disparities
among students, such as family incomé, that the financing system
has not caused. Thus, even if it knows some students tend to have
lower acadeﬁic achievement levels based in part on those socio-
economic factors, the State argues it has no obligation to cure

that situation.
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q69 I am nbt prersuaded the State has ' no consﬁitutional
obligation'to offer sufficient funding and programs.for students
in different districts who are having difficulty in meeting State-
 mandatéd uniform academic standards. The State’s adoption of such
uniform academic standards is no less a cause of diéparity than
the funding scheme disapproved in Roosevelt I. This is because
.the academic achievement standards are uniformly applied to all
districts and different districts have varying needs to offer
adequate _oppdrtunities to at—risk_ students to meet those
standards.
q70 The State felies on thé capital financing cases for the
proposition that:to be constitutionally deficient, the financial
scheme must itself cause the deficiencies. Roosevelt I held that
“a general and uniform school system does not require perfect
equality or identity.” 179 Ariz. at 243, 877 p.2d at 816. The
court cohceded that differences in facilities between districts
are not unconstitutional as long as the financing system is not
the cause of the disparities. Id. at 241-42, 877 P.2d at 815-16.
Thus, school houses, [and] school districts . . . will
not always be the same because some districts may either
attach greater importance to education or have more
wherewithal to fund it. Nothing in our constitution
prohibits this. Factors such as parental influence,
family involvement, a free market economy, and housing
patterns are beyond the reach of the‘uniformity’reqqired

by art. XI, § 1.

Id. at 242. 877 P.2d at 815.
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q71 Accordingly, “disparities that are not the result of the
state’'s own financing schéme'do not implicate the interests sought
to be sérved by art. XI, § 1.” Id. at 243, 877 P.2d at 816. .See
also Albrecht I, 190 Ariz. at 525, 950 P.2d at 1146 (ABC
legislation violated Section 1 because “it is itself the cause of
continued substantial disparities among districts”); Albrecht II,
192 Ariz. at 37 & 39, 99 8 & 20, 960 P.2d at 637 & 639 (“the
funding mechanism chosen by the state must not .itself .cénse
substantial disparities between districts”; Students FIRST was
unconstitutional because the funding schéme itself caused the
disparities, rather .than the disparities being the :result‘ of
*parental influence, family involvemen;, voter willlingness to
incur debt for pnblic schools, a free market économy,‘or hnusing
patterns.”).

q72 I discern no viablé distinction, hoWever,.between the
State’s arguments here and the financial scheme rejected in
Roosevelt I. There, the financing scheme for capital facilities
was the cause of disparities between districts_beéausé a uniform
formula was used fof all districts based in part on property
taxes, but different districts had different property values. The
supreme court reasoned that use of the uniform financing system
applied to the “profound differences in property value among the
districts . . . [that] could do nothing but produce disparities.”

Id., 179 Ariz. at 242, 877 P.2d at 815.
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173 In both cases, the State has used a uniform system for
all districts - one to finance capital facilities and the AIMS
test to permit students to show they have sufficiently met unifofﬁ
standards to graduate. In both cases,raistricts had different
needs to achieve that goal as a result of the application of a
uniform standard to varying socio-economic situations. One uniform
standard applied to districts with varying propérty values. The
other uniform standard applied to districts with wvarying socio-
economic factors aliegedly impeding the districts’ ability to give
at-risk students an equal opportunity to meet thosé academic
standards.?’ 1In both cases, the disparities and inadequacies are
caused by the application of a uniform étandard to varying socio—.
economic conditions.

q74 As in Roosevelt I, 179 Ariz. at 243, 877 P.2d at 816, my
conclusion does not mean the Staté has an obligation to corréct or
aécount for all the socio-economic factors which'cause students to

be at-risk.?® Nor does it mean that measuring students’ academic

27 The State’'s own evidence, in the form of the Morrison Report,

.confirms that different districts, based on different populations
of at-risk students, have different needs for programs and funding
to meet State-mandated academic standards. See Judith A.
Vandegrift and Louann Bierlein, Powerful Stories, Positive Results
~ Arizona At-Risk Policy Report FY 1990-91 (Morrison Report) at 31.
® See also Dayton, 57 Van.L.Rev. at 2378 (“Constitutional
guarantees of public education are guarantees of educational
opportunity and not guarantees of equal dollar amounts per pupil
L I
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pérformance and finding some students do not meet academic
standards proves the State hés failed to provide an equal adequate
- opportunity for students to obtain a basiC'eaucation as defined by
uniform, State-mandated tests. Rathef,‘it only means that given
students are at-risk, the State mﬁst provide Sufficient programs
and funding tb provide them with an equal and adequate opportunity
to meet State-mandated academic standards. See, e.g., Roqsevelt
I, 179 Ariz. at 246, 877 P.2d at 819 (Feldman, J., concurring)
(Section 1 does not 'guarahtee an “unattainable result-equal
education--but an equal opportunity for each child to obtain the
basic, minimum education" the state preécribes).

q75 The achievement standards do not exist in isolation
without any concern for whether students can meet them. Arizona;s
constitution requires the State to be acéountable for implementing
adequate education and giving all students a fair opportunity to
meet uniform academic standards imposed by the State. For, f[i]f
the State canhot'be held accountable for fulfilling its duty, the
duty éreates no obligation and is no longer a duty.” 'Claremont
Séh. Dist. v. Governor, 794 A.2d 744, 751 (N.H. 2002). If the
State imposes a uniform standard for all students in all districts
and some districts have sufficient numbers of at-risk students to
require additional programs or funding to offer ah adequate
opportunity for thbse students to meet those standards,-the‘state

must provide sufficient funds and programs to provide an equal
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opportunity for an adequate substantive education under Section

129

D. The record does not support summary judgment on whether‘thé
State 1is violating its constitutional obligation to provide an

adequate educational opportunity to Arizona children. '

x76 Summary judgment should be granfed only_When, viewed in

the light most favbrable to the party against whom judgment was

ordered, there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact. Doe
v. Roe, 191 Afiz. 313, 324, 1 34, 955 p.2d 951, 962 (1998); Orme
Sch. v. Reeves, 166 Ariz. 301, 305, 802 P.2d 1000, 1004 (1990).

We review orders granting summary judgments de novo, both as to

the.issue of law and whether there are undisputed material facts.

Wells Fargo Bank v. Arizona Laborers, Teamsters and Cemént Masons
Loc. No. 395 Pension Trust Fund, 201 Ariz. 474, 482, | 13, 38 P.3d'
12, 20 (2002); Citizens Telecomn. Coﬁ_ V. Arizona Dep’t. of
Revenue, 206 Ariz. 33, 38, ¥ 20, 75 P.3d 123,‘128 (App. 2003). We
view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in'the light most

favorable to the party opposiné the motion. Citizens, 1id.

qM77 | In this case, summary judgment was erroneoﬁs-on whether

the State provided sufficient funding or resources to give at-risk

» This conclusion that additional programs or fﬁnding may be

needed for some districts does not itself cause unconstitutional
disparities among districts. In Roosevelt I, the supreme court
held that “a general and uniform school system does not require
perfect equality or identity. For example, a system that
acknowledges special needs would not run afoul of the uniformity
clause.” 179 Ariz. at 243, 877 P.2d 816 (emphasis supplied).
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students an equal and adequate opportunity to meet its mandated
academic standards. The superior court never reached the merits
of the State’'s motion for summary judgment, but bnly ruled-the
claim was not justiciable. Besides the justiciability issue,.the
State’s motion was based on its argument that.the Districts could
not identify any sqhool unable to offer a basic education because
of state programs and the evidence did not show significahtly
higher numbers of at-risk students in the Districts were failing
the AIMS test.

978 The record does not support the State’s cbntentiqns.
First, the State contends that in answers to interrogatories, the
Districts failed to identify any school within the Districts which
failed to provide a basic education. Interrogatory 13 asked each
District to identify any school within that district that it
contended fails to provide either a minimum'basic education for
students. or opportunities for at-risk students to meet State
academic standards. It also asked for evidence to support that
coﬁtentiqn, specific ways in which programs are deficient, andra
description of efforts now underway or proposed to address the
deficiencies.

979 Each district’s answer essentially was identical. Each
response said that the State failed to prescribe eiements of a
minimum basic education. It then said that the failure of the
State to provide all or some .of the programs identified in
response to interrogatory 3 denies at-risk students a meaningful

opportunity to meet the standards. Each response also stated that
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data regarding the AIMS performance of at-risk students as well as
the most recent school improvement plans, if required, were
attached. The State did nét provide those attachments to the
- superior court.

980 Moreover, interrogatory 3 asked each District to identify
the programs and funding necessary to provide ét—risk students
with. an opportunity to obtain a basic education. While the
Districts’ responses all statéd that identifying such programs is
the State’s obligation, they then listed a numbef of proggéms
which should be considered.

q81 Other discovery requests asked the Districts what
evidence their experts relied upon to form any opinion they would
offer in the case. Tﬁe Districts responded that the experts named
in attached resumes had not yet been pro&ided any documents, but
would rely on their previous research referencedsin their attached
resumes. The State again failed to place those attachments in the
record.

q82 The State also contended that the Districts’ statement of
facts in opposition to the State’s summary judgment motion  showed
that many students in the Districts were passing the AIMS test.
In fact, exhibit 2 to that statement of facts shows the 2000 Crane
School District passage rate for both at-risk and non-at-risk

students. While some at-risk students are passing at the grade
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levels indicated, the at-risk students are failing at 1.5-3 times

the rate of non-at-risk studeéents . 3°

q83 | Finally, the State contended that the record shows that
twenty-three schools in the Districts are performing or highly
performing in AIMS test passage. The problem with that is that
the document the State relied upon only deals with overall success
rate, not performance of at—fisk students.

q84 In conclusion, the Districts presentéd sufficient
evidence to preclude summary judgment. ’They have shown ﬁhat at-
risk students were féiling the AIMS test at a rate higher than
non-at-risk students, that the poverty factor affects the ability
to succeed academicaily, and identified programs which are missing
and would offer an adequate education. Presumably, they
identified the schools impacted based on_the passage rate of the
AIMS test for at—iisk students énd named-theif'experts with the
research the experts would rely upon in attachments to the
discovery résponses that the State failed to prdvide to the
superior court.

985 This does not mean the Districts can simply.rely on a
tautology that the higher failure rate for at-risk students proves
the State’s current operations and funding affect the ability of
the Districts to 'provide “an adequate opportunity for at-risk

students to pass the AIMS test. The Districts will have to

¥ The Morrison report shows that numerous factors, including

poverty, affect at-risk students’ ability to succeed academically.

(continued . . .)
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provide other evidence, presumably expert testimony, to prove a
causal relationship between the State’s programs and resources and

the failure rate. However, the State does not argue there is no

such expert evidence. Accordingly, summary Jjudgment was

inappropriate.
V. Conclusion

q86 : For the reasons stated above and iﬁ the majority’'s
decision, I concur that this case was justiciable and that the
superior court did not err in denying tﬁe Districts’ motion for
summary Jjudgment. However, I dissent from the remainder of the
majority decision, would reverse the summary judgment granted to

the State, and remand this case for further proceedings consistent

with my dissent. B (zzi;1&2L~
- y

PONN KESSLER, Judge

\

The Morrison Report was in the record and supported that answer.
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